A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The statute of limitations for the bail jumping offense ran well
before the commencement of the prosecution of appellant Johnnie
Brown for that offense and the prosecution failed to prove that
jurisdiction nevertheless should still reside with the court.

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Brown was accused of committing the crime ofbail jumping "on
or about" May 15, 2002. He was not charged with that offense,
however, until September 2, 2011, more than nine years later.
The statute of limitations for bail jumping is three years.

Did the trial court err in refusing to dismiss the prosecution as
time - barred even though the prosecution was commenced six years
after the statute of limitation had run and the prosecution failed to
prove that jurisdiction should nevertheless still reside with the
court?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural Facts

Appellant Johnnie G. Brown was charged by information with one

count of ball jumping. CP 1 -2; RCW 9A.76.170(1) and (3)(b). After

arraignment before the Honorable Judge D. Gary Steiner on September 6,

2011, pretrial motions and a jury trial were held before the Honorable

Frank Cuthbertson on December 6 -9, 2011, after which Brown was found

guilty as charged. CP 84; 1RP 1, 2RP 1, 3RP 1, 4RP 1, 65.

On February 3, 2012, Judge Cuthbertson ordered Brown to serve a

standard -range sentence. CP 85 -97; SRP 1 -16. This appeal timely

follows. See CP 102 -13.

IThe verbatim report of proceedings consists of 5 volumes, which will be referred to as
follows:

the volume containing the proceedings of September 6, 2011, as "I RP;"
December 6 and 7, 2011, as "2RP;"
December 8, 2011 (morning), as "3RP;"
December 8 (afternoon) and December 9, 2011, as "4RP;" and
February 3, 2012, as "SRP."



2. Testimony at trial

Sometime in about August of 2001, attorney Michael Stewart was

hired by Johnnie G. Brown to represent Brown in a criminal case. 2RP

36 -38. As part of that process, Stewart said, Brown signed several

pretrial orders including one which had language on it saying "[f]ailure to

appear will result in a warrant being issued for your arrest." 2RP 44 -45.

For the 8 or so months the case was ongoing, Stewart said, Brown

appeared in court probably 15 times, even though, "[c]ases get moved;

dates get moved a lot frequently." 2RP 47, 55. Brown also showed up for

appointments at Stewart's office. 2RP 47, 55.

Proceedings in that trial were ongoing although a jury had not been

selected when, on the afternoon of April 22, 2002, the trial court issued a

ruling that some "very important evidence" would be admitted, over

defense objection. 2RP 48, 3RP 35 -36. The next day, Brown did not

appear in court. 2RP 48 -49.

The trial prosecutor on that day, Greg Greer, testified that he had

tried to use family members to get information about Brown's

whereabouts and that he believed law enforcement had searched jail

populations to see if Brown was there. 3RP 38 -39. The prosecutor did

not, however, provide specifics about what he thought occurred. 3RP 38-

39. The judge hearing the case at that time, the Honorable James Orlando,

in contrast said he had also ordered the prosecutor to check to see if

2The jury was never informed of the nature of the charges (other than that they were
felonies), but the parties discussed the fact that the underlying case involved allegations of
child rape and incest for which Brown had been tried in absentia. 1RP 3, 2RP 5.
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Brown was detained somewhere. 4RP 18.

Eventually a bench warrant issued for Brown for failing to appear

for jury trial, alleging that it occurred on May 6, 2002, not April 23. 3RP

41 -43. According to Greer, the trial judge had given Stewart and Greer

some time to try to find Brown after he first did not appear that day the end

ofApril, and after that had passed, a bench warrant had issued. 3RP 41-

42. Judge Orlando, however, testified that he issued the bench warrant on

at about 10:20 on May 6, the same day the trial was supposed to start,

when by that time Brown had failed to appear. 4RP 15. A little later in

May of 2002, Stewart reported back to the court that he had not been able

to contact Brown. 4RP 18. At some point a nationwide warrant went out

for Brown and he was found. 3RP 43.

D. ARGUMENT

THE CONVICTION MUST BE REVERSED AND DISMISSED

BECAUSE THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS HAD RUN

PRIOR TO THE PROSECUTION BEING COMMENCED AND

THE STATE FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROVING

THAT JURISDICTION SHOULD STILL RESIDE WITH THE

COURT

RCW 9A.04.080(1) sets forth what are commonly called "statutes

of limitations." See State v. Glover 25 Wn. App. 58, 61, 604 P.2d 1015

1979). Under the statute, "[p]rosecutions for criminal offenses shall not

be commenced" after specific time periods, depending upon the offense.

3Testimony did not establish where or how he was found but there were discussions
with the jury out indicating the prosecutor's belief that he was found after being featured
on "America's Most Wanted," a television show which broadcasts pictures and
information of people who are being sought by law enforcement in the hopes watchers
will call if they have relevant information. See e.g., State v. Clarke 86 Wn. App. 447,
448, 936 P.2d 1215, review denied 133 Wn.2d 1018 (1997).



RCW 9A.04.080(1). The "shall" is mandatory - so much so that, in

criminal cases, the running of the statute of limitations is jurisdictional and

an "absolute bar" to prosecution. State v. Hodgson 108 Wn.2d 662, 667-

68, 740 P.2d 848 (1987), cert. denied 485 U.S. 938 (1988).

In this case, Mr. Brown's conviction for bail jumping should be

reversed and dismissed, because the statute of limitations had completely

run on the offense prior to the prosecution being commenced. Further, the

prosecution failed to meet its burden of proving that jurisdiction should

nevertheless still reside in the court.

a. Relevant facts

On September 2, 2011, the prosecution filed the information

charging Mr. Brown with bail jumping "on or about the 15' day of May,

2002[.]" CP 1 -2. Brown was arraigned on the charge at a hearing before

Judge Steiner on September 6, 2011. 1 R 1.

At that hearing, the prosecutor told the court that, in 2002, Mr.

Brown had been facing child rape and incest charges and had "fled in the

middle of trial," after which Brown had been tried in absentia. 1RP 3,

2RP 5. According to the prosecutor, Brown had been "on the loose" until

recently, when he had been brought back for sentencing in front of Judge

Orlando. 1RP 2 -5. The prosecutor also told the court the search for

Brown was "extensive" and Brown was "found in Missouri" as the result

of a TV show. 1RP 4.

The prosecutor told the court that, when the parties had appeared

for sentencing in front of Judge Orlando, Brown had no attorney. 1RP 4.

As a result, the prosecutor reported, the judge had declined to arraign
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Brown on the bail jumping charge. 1RP 4. As a result, the prosecutor

said, Judge Orlando had set the case over and that was how the bail

jumping charge had ended up in front of Judge Steiner when the other case

was in front of Judge Orlando. 1RP 4.

On December 6, 2011, the parties appeared for pretrial motions in

front of Judge Cuthbertson on the bail jumping offense. 2RP 12. At that

hearing, counsel argued that the court should dismiss the prosecution for

bail jumping for various reasons. 2RP 12. During this discussion, he

pointed out that Brown had been charged with bail jumping "nine years

and a hundred and some days after he allegedly failed to appear for the

trial of the underlying charge." 2RP 12.

A little later, during the prosecution's case in chief at trial, the

prosecutor raised an objection to a potential witness defense counsel had

disclosed the previous day. 3RP 3. That witness, Jeffrey Willis, had

known the defendant since the early 1990's when they worked together.

3RP 14 -15. Willis was going to testify that he had run into Brown in

Washington state several times over the previous few years. 3RP 14 -15.

The prosecutor objected that the court should exclude the witness,

claiming that Brown's "whereabouts for the past nine years" was not

relevant." 3RP 15. The prosecutor then declared various places that he

said Brown was believed to have lived during the intervening years,

apparently based upon a motion which had been filed in the case in front

of Judge Orlando by a company called Metro Bail Bonds. 3RP 15. The

prosecutor said that Metro had tried over the years to find Brown and

someone from that company could be called by the prosecution to testify
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about the work they did on that. 3RP 15. But again, the prosecutor

argued, the evidence was irrelevant because, "[t]he fact that he was in the

area doesn't prove or disprove anything." 3RP 16.

The court asked counsel to respond and he did so, stating:

The relevance is that, Your Honor, the State is required to prove at
trial why the Statute of Limitations in this case didn't - - was

tolled. This case is nine years, 110 days old by the time they file it,
or approximately... The State has to show that tolling applied to,
or else the statute runs. The statute on this case is three years.

3RP 17. When counsel said he had previously mentioned the issue at

Brown's arraignment "up in Judge Felnagle's Court on September 2," the

prosecutor then declared, "if Judge Felnagle has already ruled on it, then

it's the law of the case." 3RP 16 -18. Counsel corrected himself, saying

i]t was Judge Orlando." 3RP 18.

The court then said it thought the defense witness was not timely

disclosed. 3RP 18. The court also declared that it did not "think there's

any relevance at this point as to where Mr. Brown was in the intervening

time period," and that Willis' testimony would lead to speculation by the

jury about when Brown might have been in Pierce County. 3RP 18. As a

result, the court excluded the witness. 3RP 18.

At that point, the prosecutor asked that the motion filed in the child

rape case by Metro Bail Bonds "be made part of the record in this case as

well." 3RP 19. It was marked as Exhibit 12, but not presented to the jury.

3RP 19; see Supp. CP ( Exhibit list, at 2) (attached as Appendix A for

4A supplemental designation of clerk's papers including this document is being filed
herewith. The document is attached for the Court's convenience as Appendix A. Also
included in the designation is Exhibit 12, the "Metro Bail Bonds" motion originally filed
in the child rape case and filed in this case by the prosecution. 3RP 19. The document is
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the Court's convenience).

After a brief recess, counsel again raised the issue, arguing that, at

trial, the prosecution had the burden of proving jurisdiction and that the

running of the statute of limitations issue was "jurisdictional." 3RP 20.

He also pointed out that the issue could be raised for the first time even on

appeal. 3RP 20.

When the trial court stated that it thought the issue had been ruled

on by Judge Orlando already, counsel clarified that no such ruling had

been made. 3RP 21. Counsel explained that he had appeared at the

sentencing hearing in front of Judge Orlando because he saw that it was

going to occur and that no defense counsel was assigned. 3RP 21. He had

not, however, represented Brown at that time. 3RP 21.

In fact, because Brown had not had counsel at that hearing, Judge

Orlando had asked counsel if he could step in and handle the sentencing

but counsel had declined, stating he did not know enough about the case to

do so. 3RP 21.

In that context, counsel explained, he had then pointed out that

there were potential issues he could already see just glancing at the case,

which whoever was appointed would need to research. 3RP 21. One of

those was that there was a trial in absentia. 3RP 21. Another was whether

the statute of limitations had run for the bail jumping offense. 3RP 21.

Judge Orlando had speculated that, "if the State can show that he's absent

from the jurisdiction], then there would be tolling." 3RP 21. There was

attached for the Court's convenience as Appendix B.
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no discussion of it further and no ruling by the judge, because the

conversation was just a discussion of issues some future counsel might

raise. 3RP 21.

In response, the prosecutor questioned whether the running of the

statute of limitations was even "a jurisdictional issue that needs to be

proved beyond a reasonable doubt." 3RP 21 -22. Instead, the prosecutor

declared, the running of the statute should be treated as a "legal issue that

would not be under the province of the jury." 2RP 22. The court agreed,

also stating, "I believe there has been a prior ruling on the jurisdictional

issue." 3RP 22.

The next day, counsel filed a "Memorandum in Support of

Defendant'sMotion to Dismiss re: Jurisdiction." CP 67 -69. In that

document, counsel again argued that the three -year statute of limitations

for the bail jumping offense had run and that the issue was jurisdictional.

CP 68. He also argued that the law required that "[t]he facts conferring

jurisdiction ... must be established" at trial. CP 69. And he reminded the

court that it was the prosecution'sburden to prove that the statute of

limitations was "tolled" - otherwise the court did not have jurisdiction over

the case at all. CP 69.

During trial proceedings, counsel then asked the court to allow him

to make an offer of proof on the issue, saying he wanted to present

Brown's testimony about where he lived over the nine -year period of time

between the alleged conduct and the charging. 4RP 34.

Again, the prosecutor declared the evidence irrelevant for the jury.

4RP 34. The court, however, allowed counsel to make the offer of proof.
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4RP 36. Counsel then called Brown to the stand. 4RP 36. Brown

described living with someone in Puyallup for two years starting in 2002,

then moving back to Tacoma with that woman for two years, from about

2004 to about 2006. 4RP 36. Brown said that, in about 2006, he moved to

Ohio to live with his dad, which he did for about five months. 4RP 37.

After that, Brown went to St. Louis, Missouri, where he lived for close to

three years before he was ultimately arrested and returned to Washington

state. 4RP 37.

The prosecutor cross - examined Brown about several different

allegations, such as whether he had lived with a particular woman after a

certain time period or had a child by her, whether he had gone by his

brother's name and whether he had been to Canada or other places. 4RP

39 -44. The prosecutor then explained that he had wanted to "check"

Brown's version of events "versus what the State's offer of proof on this

as a matter of law would be, which is contained in Exhibit 12," the motion

from "Metro Bail Bonds" from the other case, filed in this case by the

prosecutor. 4RP 44.

The court did not reconsider its ruling. 4RP 44 -45.

At the later sentencing, defense counsel again raised the issue,

arguing that the charge should be "dismissed for lack ofjurisdiction."

SRP 3. He pointed out that the prosecution had failed to prove to the jury

at trial that the statute of limitations had been "tolled." SRP 3. The

prosecutor responded to other arguments counsel made on other issues but

5More discussion of the allegations contained in Exhibit 12 is presented in the argument
section, infra.
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said nothing about the statute of limitations. SRP 3 -15. The court

similarly did not mention the issue before imposing sentence. 3RP 3 -15.

b. The statute of limitations barred the state's

prosecution for the offense and the state failed to
meet the burden of proving to the contrary

Mr. Brown's conviction for bail jumping must be reversed,

because the statute of limitations had run prior to commencement of the

prosecution for that charge and the state failed to prove to the contrary.

As a threshold matter, this issue is properly before the Court.

Counsel not only raised the issue below, he did so again and again. In fact,

he tried to present testimony about it and made an offer of proof, even

raising the issue again at sentencing. 2RP 12, 3RP 15, 20 -22, 4RP 30 -36,

SRP 3; CP 67 -69. The issue is more than well preserved for appeal.

In any event, the question of whether the trial court lacked

jurisdiction because of the running of the statute of limitations is so

constitutionally significant that it has repeatedly been declared to be a

manifest error affecting a constitutional right which could be raised for the

first time on appeal. See State v. Walker 153 Wn. App. 701, 705, 224

P.3d 814 (2009); State v. Novotny 76 Wn. App. 343, 345 n. 1, 884 P.2d

1336 (1994).

In fact, our highest court has not only granted relief on the issue on

collateral review but has done so well after the normal one -year time limit

for such review had passed, because of the serious constitutional

dimensions of the issue. See In re the Personal Restraint of Stoudmire

141 Wn.2d 342, 5 P.3d 1240 (2000). In Stoudmire the Supreme Court

reversed two convictions for indecent liberties because the prosecution
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was commenced after the statute of limitations for the crimes had run. 141

Wn.2d at 345 -46. Further, it did so even though the issue was raised in a

successive personal restraint petition more than a year after the judgment

was final. 141 Wn.2d at 345 -46.

This is because the issue involved the Court's jurisdiction. The

judgment and sentence for indecent liberties was "invalid on its face," the

Court held, as the crime was charged after the statute of limitations for the

crime had run. 141 Wn.2d at 345 -46. As a result, the Court reversed and

dismissed the charges. Id.; see also Novotny 76 Wn. App. at 345 n. 1

reversing a conviction for third - degree rape of a child when the three -year

statute of limitations had run for some of the charging period and the jury

had rendered a general verdict).

The seriousness of the constitutional nature of the issue in criminal

cases is also made clear by looking at the difference in result when a case

is civil. In a civil case, the statute of limitations is only a statute of

repose" and its running serves only to limit remedies. See Hodgson 108

Wn.2d at 667 -68; State v. Eppens 30 Wn. App. 119, 124, 633 P.2d 92

1981). In stark contrast, in a criminal case, the running of the statute of

limitations is jurisdictional and serves as "absolute bar" to prosecution.

Eppens 30 Wn. App. at 124; see Novotny 76 Wn. App. at 345 n. 1.

Indeed, where the statute of limitations has run in a criminal case,

not only does that divest the trial court of any jurisdiction over the crime

but it also renders the entire proceeding void. See, e.g., Glover 25 Wn.

App. at 61 -62 (information charging crime for which statute has run "fails

to state a public offense "); RCW 10.37.050 (information "is sufficient if it
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can be understood therefrom... [t]hat the crime was committed... within

the time limited by law for the commencement of an action therefor[.] ");

see also Stoudmire 141 Wn.2d at 345 -46 (any judgment and sentence

entered on a charge barred by the statute of limitation is outside the

sentencing court's authority).

Put another way, as this Court has noted, the running of the statute

in a criminal case is, in fact, a "limitation upon the power of the sovereign

to act against the accused." Glover 25 Wn. App. at 61 (quotations

omitted).

In this case, at the time the proceeding was commenced for the bail

jumping charge, the statute of limitations had already run. For the crime,

the statute of limitations is found in a "catchall" provision contained in

RCW 9A.04.080(1)(h). See Walker 153 Wn. App. at 705. Under that

statute, a charge may not be prosecuted "more than three years after its

commission." RCW 9A.04.080(1)(h); Walker 153 Wn. App. at 705.

Here, more than nine years passed between the date of the alleged

crime (April or May of 2002) and the filing of the information (in

September of 2011). CP 1. Thus, without more information, the charging

document on its face accused Brown of committing the crime more than

six years after the state lost its authority to pursue him for that offense.

As noted below, however, there is an exception to the statute of

limitations which sometimes may apply. Under RCW 9A.04.080(2), the

statute of limitations stops running or is "tolled" when the defendant is

not usually and publicly resident within this state." RCW 9A.04.080(2);

see State v. Israel 113 Wn. App. 243, 293 -94, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002),
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review denied 149 Wn.2d 1013 (2003). Because tolling is an exception to

the statute of limitations, proving that there has been tolling "is critical to

the court's jurisdiction." Walker 153 Wn. App. at 707. Absent such

proof, the prosecution for an offense must be reversed and dismissed. See

id.

Thus, the prosecutor was simply wrong in declaring below that the

issue was not even "a jurisdictional issue" requiring sufficient proof 3RP

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