D

A.       ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR.

1. Whether the three- year statute of limitations does not run

when the defendant is not usually and publicly resident within the

state?

2. Whether, notwithstanding the opinions of the Court of

Appeals to the contrary, the statute of limitations is not a

jurisdictional limit on the courts?

3. Whether the statute of limitation should be an affirmative

defense, which the defendant has the burden to prove by a

preponderance of the evidence?

4. Whether the trial court properly denied the defendant' s

motion that the State be required to prove to the jury that the

jurisdictional time limit did not apply?

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

C.       ARGUMENT.

The defense claim on appeal is that where this case was filed nine

years after the crime occurred, it was filed beyond the statute of

limitations because the State failed to prove that the tolling provision

applied to extend the statute of limitation. Relying on Court of Appeals

opinions that refer to the statute of limitation as " jurisdictional," the

defense position is that because the court lacked jurisdiction to consider

the case, it must be dismissed.

The defense position is flawed for a number of reasons.

The issue in this case stems from some confusion between the trial

court and the parties as to whether there had been a hearing in front of a

different court (at arraignmeni) to determine whether the statute of

limitations had tolled. Further, as the State argues here, the parties'

confusion— and at issue here on appeal— stems from RCW 9A.04.080' s

ambiguity as to how the defense properly raises a challenge to the statute

of limitations, and who carries the burden to prove the statute has tolled.

The statute is wholly silent on these questions.
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1. THE THREE YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATION

APPLICABLE TO BAIL JUMPING UNDER RCW

9A.04.080 DOES NOT RUN WHEN THE DEFENDANT

IS NOT USUALLY AND PUBLICLY RESIDENT
WITHIN THE STATE

The statute of limitations bars prosecutions of felony bail jumping

that occur more than three years after their commission, however, the

period of limitation does not run during any time when the person charged

is not usually and publicly resident within the state:

1) Prosecutions for criminal offenses shall not be

commenced after the periods prescribed in this section.

h) No other felony may be prosecuted more than three
years after is commission; . . . .

2) The periods of limitation prescribed in subsection ( 1) of

this section do not run during any time when the person
charged is not usually and publicly resident within this
state.

RCW 9A.04. 080( 1)( h), ( 2). 3

Although the Washington State Supreme Court has not expressly

defined what constitutes " usually and publicly resident" within the state, it

has clarified that a statute of limitation does not run when a defendant

relocates— for any purpose— to another state. See, e.g., State v.

Willingham, 169 Wn.2d 192, 194, 234 P. 3d 211 ( 2010) ( recognizing that

tolling applies when a defendant is incarcerated in another state, the

3 The statute proscribes different periods of limitations for specified felonies, and
includes a catch- all provision— subsection( 1)( h)— for felonies not expressly identified.
Bail jumping falls into this latter category.
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defendant purposefully leaves the state to avoid authorities, or even when

the defendant openly resides in another state and the state knows about his

location). However, mere absence from the state is insufficient to toll a

statute of limitation. Willingham, 169 Wn.2d. at 194- 95 ( holding that

statute was not tolled where defendant was temporarily absent from the

state for two weeks for workplace training).  Similarly, where a defendant

is in a neighboring count' s jail cell did not mean that he was not usually

and publicly resident within the state. State v. Walker, 153 Wn. App. 701,

224 P. 3d 814 ( 2009).

The limitation period did not run for the time where a defendant

lived in another state, the defendant had not concealed himself in that

state, remained in contact with his parole officer, and paid restitution in

Washington. State v. Israel, 113 Wn. App. 243, 54 P. 3d 1218 ( 2002),

review denied 149 Wn.2d 1015, 69 P. 3d 874. See also, State v. King, 113

Wn. App. 243, 293- 94, 54 P. 3d 1218 ( 2002); State v. McDonald, 100 Wn.

App. 828, 832- 33, 1 P. 32 1176 ( 2000); State v. Newcomer, 48 Wn. App.

83, 91- 92, 737 P. 2d 1285 ( 1987). Nor is it necessary that the defendant

have the intent to conceal his whereabouts. Sate v. Ansel!, 36 Wn. App.

492, 675 P. 2d 614 ( 1984) ( holding that the defendant's absence from the

state was sufficient to toll the statute of limitations notwithstanding that he

lacked an intent to conceal his whereabouts, and even though the
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a

defendant' s address within the other state was known to authorities, the

defendant was living openly, and he was available for prosecution at all

times).

What these cases stand for is that if the defendant abandons his

residence in Washington, or takes up residence in another state, the statute

of limitations is tolled, while if the defendant still resides in Washington,

but temporarily leaves the state, the limitation is not tolled.

2. CONTRARY TO THE OPINIONS OF THE COURT OF

APPEALS, THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IS NOT

A JURISDICTIONAL LIMIT ON THE COURT.

a. The Statute Of Limitation Is A Bar Upon The

Authority Of The State To Prosecute The Charge
And Is Not Jurisdictional Upon The Court.

Proof of jurisdiction beyond a reasonable doubt is an integral

component of the State' s burden in every criminal prosecution." State v.

Norman, 145 Wn.2d 578, 40 P. 3d 1161 ( 2002).

Due process requires the State to prove each essential element

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Hanna, 123 Wn.2d 704, 710, 871

P. 2d 135 ( 1994) ( citing In re Winship, 397 U. S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068,

1072 ( 1970)). "[ W] e explicitly hold that the Due Process Clause protects

the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable

doubt ofevery fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is

charged." In re Winship, 397 U. S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068 ( 1970)
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emphasis added). Essential elements pertain to facts essential to a

defendant's guilt, specifically whether the defendant committed the crime

charged. See State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258, 263, 930 P. 2d 917 ( 1997)

finding that a to- convict instruction must include all of the essential

elements of a crime " because it serves as a ' yardstick' by which the jury

measures the evidence to determine guilt or innocence") ( emphasis

added)).

An essential element of a crime is one that must be proven to

establish the very illegality of the behavior."" State v. Tellez, 141 Wn.

App. 479, 482- 83, 170 P. 3d 75 ( 2007) ( quoting State v. Johnson, 119

Wn.2d 143, 147, 829 P. 2d 1078 ( 1992)). The element need not be defined

in the statute defining the crime in order to be considered essential. Id. at

483. However, it is sufficient to charge in the statute' s language if it

defines the offense with certainty. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 99,

812 P. 2d 86 ( 1991).

The effect of the statute of limitations in criminal cases imposing

a[ n absolute] bar to prosecution has been referred to in some court of

appeals cases as jurisdictional. See Walker, 153 Wn. App. at 705 ( citing

State v. Eppens, 30 Wn. App. 119, 124, 633 P. 2d 92 ( 1981); Ansell, 36

Wn. App. at 496 ( citing Eppens, 30 Wn. App. at 124). But see State v.

Hodgson, 108 Wn.2d 662, 668, 740 P. 2nd 848 ( 1987) ( referring to

prosecutions as being time barred [ but not referencing jurisdiction] after

the expiration of the period designated in the statute of limitation).
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In Eppens, the case relied upon in both Walker and Ansel!, the

Court of Appeals asserted that the statute of limitations creates an absolute

bar to prosecution. Eppens, 30 Wn. App.  at 124.  The court in Eppens

distinguished between effect of a statute of limitation in criminal cases,

where it is an absolute bar to prosecution, from civil cases, where such a

statue provides repose and a limitation on remedies. Eppens, 30 Wn. App.

at 124. In support of this proposition, the court in Eppens cited to State v.

Glover, as well as two cases, one for the 6th Circuit court of appeals, and

another from Idaho. Eppens, 30 Wn. App. at 124 ( citing State v. Glover,

25 Wn. App. 58, 61, 604 P. 2d 1015 ( 1979); Benes v. United States, 276

F.2d 99, 108- 109 ( 6th Cir. 1960); State v. Steensland, 33 Idaho 529, 195

P. 1080, 1081 ( 1921).  However, the court in Eppens did not look to the

language of the Washington statute compared to the other states, nor did it

consider Washington's prior history of the treatment of statutes of

limitation other than Glover.

Indeed, the earliest case the State could find that referred to the

criminal statute of limitation as jurisdictional is the Court of Appeals 1979

in Glover, which relies upon cases from other jurisdictions in support of

that proposition.  See State v. Glover, 25 Wn. App. 58, 604 P. 2d 1015

1979) ( citing Waters v. United States, 328 F. 2d 739 ( 10th Cir. 1964);

State v. Fogel, 16 Ariz. App. 246, 248, 492 P. 2d 742, 744 ( 1972); People

v. Rehman, 62 Cla.2d 135, 396 P. 2d 913, 41 Cal. Rptr. 457 ( 1964);

People v. Kohut, 30 Ny.2d 183, 282 N.E.2d 312, 331 N.Y.S. 2d 416
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1972)).  However, the court in Glover also noted contrary authority.  See

Glover, 25 Wn. App. at 61 ( citing United States v. Wild, 551 F. 2d 418

D.C. Cir. 1977).

Ultimately relying upon Glover for the proposition that the statute

of limitations is jurisdictional, in some opinions the Washington Court of

Appeals has gone on to assert that a challenge based on the statute of

limitations may be raised for the first time on appeal. See, e.g., State v.

Israel, 113 Wn. App. 243, 293- 94, 54 P. 3d 1218 ( 2002); State v. Ansell,

36 Wn. App. 492, 496, 675 P. 2d 614 ( 1984).  However, that standard is

relatively recent and repeats the same analytic flaw as Glover.

The State has been unable to find any case by the Washington

Supreme Court that treats the statute of limitations as jurisdictional.  The

Washington Supreme Court has held that a different statute of limitation is

not a jurisdictional bar, such that equitable tolling may apply to it. In re

Bonds, 165 Wn.2d 135, 141, 196 P. 3d 672 ( 2008) ( interpreting RCW

10. 73. 090).  However, that provision may be distinguishable from RCW

9A.04. 080 insofar as the former is statutory limit on the defendant for

pursuing collateral attacks.

Although Washington courts have not yet considered the issue of

whether the statute of limitations is an essential element of the crime,

several courts have considered whether the statute of limitations had run in

a specific case. Generally, these cases can be separated into three groups:

1) the reviewing court considers whether the trial court in each case had
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properly considered the evidence that the defendants were not publicly and

usually resident within the state; ( 2) the reviewing court considers de novo

whether defendant was usually and publicly resident within the state; or

3) the State concedes error that the statute of limitations had run.

Cases where the reviewing court considered whether the trial court

in each case had properly considered the evidence that the defendants

were not publicly and usually within the state include, State v.

Willingham, 169 Wn.2d 192, 195, 234 P. 3d 211 ( 2010) ( affirming the trial

court's finding that the evidence did not indicate the defendant had

changed residences, and thus finding the statute of limitations had run);

State v. King, 113 Wn. App. 243, 294, 54 P. 3d 1218 ( 2002) ( affirming the

trial court' s finding that the statute of limitations had tolled where the

defendant changed residences to California).

Cases where the reviewing court considered de novo whether the

defendant was usually and publicly resident within the state include, State

v. McDonald, 100 Wn. App. 828, 832- 33, 1 P. 3d 1176 ( 2000) ( finding the

statute of limitations had tolled while the defendant was absent from the

state); State v. Newcomer, 48 Wn. App. 83, 91- 92, 737 P. 2d 1285 ( 1987)

finding that the defendant' s incarceration in another state tolled the statute

of limitations); State v. Ansell, 36 Wn. App. 492, 496, 675 P. 2d 614
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1984) ( finding that the statute of limitations tolled where the evidence

showed defendant lived in several states outside of Washington).

Cases where the State conceded that the statute of limitations had

run include, see, e. g., State v. Novotny, 76 Wn. App. 343, 345- 47, 884

P. 2d 1336 ( 1994); In re Stoudmire, 141 Wn.2d 342, 354- 55, 5 P. 3d 1240

2000).

In some of the cases outlined in groups ( 1) and ( 2), there is some

confusion as to whether the court is applying a de novo or an abuse of

discretion standard of review. See, e. g., State v. Ansell, 36 Wn. App. at

496 (" The trial court erred in holding [ the statute of limitations] had run

because Ansell was at all times available for prosecution.").

Similarly related, though not directly on issue, is the court's

opinion in State v. Walker, 153 Wn. App. 701, 705- 06, 224 P. 3d 814

2009). Walker alleged his charging information was insufficient under

RCW 10. 37. 050 because the State did not include facts that would toll the

statute of limitations. Walker, 153 Wn. App. at 705- 06. RCW 10. 37. 050

requires an indictment or information to state "[ t]hat the crime was

committed . . . within the time limited by law for the commencement of an

action therefore." RCW 10. 37.050( 5). The court in Walker, however,

found that absent any prejudice to the defendant, the argument failed

because the State could simply amend the information to expressly state

the tolling period. Walker, 153 Wn. App. at 706. This is consistent with
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the Supreme Court of the United State' s position that jurisdictional

grounding is not a constitutional basis for the essential elements rule.

United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625, 629- 31, 122 S. Ct. 1781 ( 2002).

In other states, courts have expressly found that it is not necessary

for the State at trial to prove that the statute of limitations did not run

because it does not pertain to whether the defendant committed the crime

charged:

The statute of limitations does not negative a single element

of the crime with which a defendant may be charged. It
does not put in issue the guilt of the defendant. It therefore
is not necessary for the prosecution to prove that the
defendant was not an inhabitant or usually resident within
the state for a period of time which would have tolled the

statute of limitations.

Ex parte Washington, 92 Okla. Crim. 337, 340, 223 P. 2d 552 ( 1950)

emphasis added); see also Proctor v. State, 967 S. W.2d 840, 844, ( Tex.

Crim. App. 1998) ("[ W] e can see no purpose in treating limitations as an

absolute, systemic requirement or prohibition. For one thing, the statute of

limitations has little to do with the truth-findingfunction of the criminal

justice system." ( emphasis added)).

There is no common law statute of limitations in criminal cases.

State v. Hodgson, 108 Wn.2d 662, 667, 740 P. 2d 848 ( 1987).  Statutes of

limitation are grants of legislative grace whereby the sovereign surrenders

its right to prosecute. Hodgson, 108 Wn.2d at 667.  As such, a period of

limitation that has not yet expired may be extended by statutory
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modification without violating the rights of criminals. Hodgson, 108

Wn.2d at 667.  However, where the statute has run, and the ability to

prosecute the crime has expired, the ability to prosecute cannot thereafter

be revived by extending the statute of limitation. Hodgson, 108 Wn.2d at

667.

Indeed, there is a split among jurisdictions as to whether statutes of

limitations constitute a jurisdictional bar to prosecution or whether they

are an affirmative defense.  The federal courts, with the exception of the

tenth circuit, have held that it is not jurisdictional, but rather is an

affirmative defense that may be waived by a guilty plea. See Mungovan,

Timothy W. " Criminal Law-- Statute of Limitations: An affirmative

defense waived by a guilty plea-- Acevedo-Ramos v. United States, 961

F.2d 305 ( 1st Cir.), Cert Denied, 113 S. Ct. 299 ( 1992)" 27 Suffolk

University Law Review 1108, 1109- 10 ( 1993).  The United States

Supreme Court has held that a statute of limitation is a defense that must

be asserted at trial.  Mungovan, 27 Suffolk L. Rev. at 1109- 10.

Many state courts also treat statutes of limitations as a defense that

can be waived if not asserted. See State v. Lusher, 982 N.E.2d 1290, 2012

Ohio 5526 ( 2012); Dorris v. State, 360 S. W.3d 260 ( 2012 [ MO]); People

v. Moore, 176 Cal.App.4th 687, 97 Cal.Rptr.3d 844 ( 2009); State v.

Cook, 972 A.2d 1059, 157 N.H. 708 ( 2009); Corn. v. Corban Corp., 909

A.2d 406 ( 2006 [ PA]); Cameron v. State, 224 S. W.3d 559, 94 Ark. App.

58 ( 2006); King v. State, 17 S. W.3d 7 ( 2000 [ Tex.]); State v. Wiemer, 533
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N.W.2d 122, 3 Neb.App. 821 ( 1995); People v. Gwinn, 627 N.E.2d 699,

255 Ill.App.3d 628 ( 1994); Harmony v. State, 594 A.2d 1182, 88

Md.App. 306 ( 1991); State v. Pohlhammer, 254 N.W.2d 478, 78 Wis.2d

516 ( 1977).

Other States treat it as jurisdictional. Lee v. State, 709 S. E.2d 762,

289 Ga. 95 ( 2011); State v. Loyd, 696 N.W.2d 860, 269 Neb. 762 ( 2005);

Maguire v. State, 453 So. 2d 438 ( 1984 [ Fla.]); State v. Thorpe, 614

S. W.2d 60 ( 1980 [ Tenn.]); Proctor v. State, 915 S. W.2d 490, ( 1995

Tex.])

Where there is a significant split of opinion among the States, the

reliance in Glover on two extra-jurisdictional cases without further

analysis of the language or the history of the Washington statute is not

well considered.

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